ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III

Case No. 2011-CP-07-2176
Appellate Case No. 2013-000222

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellants, William A. Ashton, Jr. and Michelle C. Ashton, on June 12, 2001, purchased Lot number 55 Daufuskie Island Club, Phase 1, Bloody Point, Beaufort County, South Carolina, also known as 42 Fuskie Lane, (hereafter the "Property") for the sum of \$201,500.00. The Appellants maintained continuous ownership of the Property from that date through January of 2012. In the interim, the developer of Bloody Point, and the development itself, experienced significant financial issues to the point that a bankruptcy action was initiated relating to the development. As part of that financial difficulty, most if not all, of the services being provided to the Property Owners by the Bloody Point Property Owners Association, Inc. (hereinafter the "Association") were either significantly curtailed or eliminated completely. In conjunction therewith, Appellants received a letter from the Association informing them that Bloody Point had gone "belly up" and that the golf course had been shut down. Thereafter, the operations of the Association, including the collection of regime fees and the providing of services to the Property Owners for such fees, were discontinued for a period of time.

At some point subsequent thereto around about January 1, 2010, the Association apparently attempted to again start collecting regime fees from the property owners of Bloody Point, including the Appellants, commencing with a \$1,150.00 assessment, which fees were not received from the Appellants. As a result thereof, a lien was filed on December 13, 2010, against the Property, and thereafter a foreclosure action was instituted on May 17, 2011, to foreclose that lien. At the time suit was instituted, the amount due and owing for regime fees and charges was Three Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Seven and

50/100 (\$3,547.50) Dollars.

In that the Appellants were residents of Chester County, Pennsylvania, counsel for the regime made arrangements with the Chester County Sheriff's Office to attempt personal service of the Summons and Complaint upon the Appellants. A Deputy Sheriff, Kurt Hansen, from the Chester County Sheriff's Office, submitted Affidavits of Service (in reality non-service) to the Regime's counsel indicating that on three (3) different business days he had attempted service at the Appellants' residence, during business hours, without success. His Affidavits indicated that on one occasion there was a car in the driveway and the garage was open, but he was unable to locate anybody in or about the residence. His Affidavits also indicated that he made a second attempt at service on one of the other business days at approximately 7:08 p.m., but there was no one home at the residence at that time.

Counsel for the regime, Julie Serafino, upon receipt of the aforesaid Affidavits from the Chester County Sheriff's Department, undertook no further effort to effect personal service upon the Appellants, through either a private process server or registered mail, return receipt requested, or otherwise. Instead Julie Serafino filed an Affidavit with the Clerk of Court requesting an Order of Publication. The Affidavit failed to state, on its face, that the parties sought to be served by publication "cannot, after due diligence, be found within the state, and (a) that fact appears by Affidavit...", as required under the publication statute. Based on the aforesaid defective Affidavit, the Clerk of Court issued an Order of Publication allowing said publication to be made in the *Island Packet*, a local newspaper for Beaufort County, as opposed to a paper most likely to give notice to the Appellants, such as a local newspaper in Chester County, Pennsylvania, where the Appellants were known to reside.

After the publication ran three (3) times in the *Island Packet*, the Respondent, Bloody Point, thereafter filed an Affidavit of Default and sought a Default Judgment against the Appellants. The Appellants, residing in Pennsylvania and not in Beaufort County, South Carolina, were unaware of the publication of the Summons and Complaint, and therefore, never responded to the same. Thereafter, a hearing was held before The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity for Beaufort County, on December 2, 2011, as a result of which the Master's Report and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale was entered on December 6, 2011, and the Property was sold at public auction on January 3, 2012. The highest bidder at the auction, the Respondents herein, David L. Fingerhut and Patricia M. Santry, bid Eight Thousand Eight Hundred (\$8,800.00) Dollars for the Property, an amount just slightly in excess of the amount then due and owing pursuant to the lien, by \$133.00. The Property was thereafter conveyed to the Respondent by the Master's Deed dated January 6, 2012, and recorded January 11, 2012, in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Beaufort County, in Book 03111 at Page 1291.

On or about January 14, 2012, the Appellants received a letter from the Master in Equity, The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, which indicated that the Property had been foreclosed by the Association and sold at a foreclosure sale. In response thereto, Appellants promptly contacted Judge Dukes' office, and after being advised that they needed to retain a lawyer, contacted Appellants' counsel in an effort to set aside the aforesaid foreclosure sale.

A Motion to Vacate/Set Aside Foreclosure Sale, Void Master in Equity Deed and Vacate/Set Aside Order was filed by Appellants' counsel on February 2, 2012. Respondents, David L. Fingerhut and Patricia M. Santry, filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the

aforementioned Motion dated May 9, 2012. Thereafter the matter was heard before the Master in Equity, The Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, on May 14, 2012. Judge Dukes issued his decision from said hearing on July 25, 2012. Thereafter, the Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, on July 30, 2012, and a hearing thereon came to be heard on October 16, 2012. Judge Dukes issued his Order denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider, but which did not end the case, on December 28, 2012, a copy of which was received on January 8, 2013, and which Judge Dukes subsequently supplemented with his Amended Order, ending the case, received on January 23, 2013. Thereafter, Appellants filed their Notice of Intent to Appeal on January 31, 2013, which was filed with the Court of Appeals on February 1, 2013.

ARGUMENT

I. WAS THE SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT UPON THE APPELLANTS, WILLIAM C. ASHTON, JR. AND MICHELE C. ASHTON, BY PUBLICATION FATALY DEFECTIVE?

The Appellants were not properly served with the Summons and Complaint in the underlying action, such that the Court did not have jurisdiction over them. This argument was raised by Appellants by way of several theories both at the original hearing in this matter, on Appellants' Motion to Vacate/Set Aside Foreclosure Sale, Void Master in Equity Deed, and Vacate/Set Aside Order (the transcript of hearing thereon is hereinafter referred to as "Transcript 1"), and in their Motion to Reconsider (the transcript of hearing thereon is hereinafter referred to as "Transcript 2"). See Transcript 1 (R. p. 62, line 14 –p. 67, line 1; R. p. 81, line 21 –p. 82, line 20; R. p. 83, line 7 –p. 87, line 21); and Transcript 2 (R. p. 90, line 2 –p. 96, line 13). An Order of Publication of known parties *must* direct the publication

be made in one newspaper *most likely to give notice* to the person to be served and for such length of time as may be deemed reasonable not less than once a week for three weeks. (Emphasis added.) S.C. Code Ann. §15-9-740 (1976). South Carolina Courts have repeatedly required strict compliance with publication statutes. Caldwell v. Wiquist, Op. No. 5105 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed March 27, 2013) (Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 14 at 99). To avoid resolving litigation by default, strict compliance with the publication statutes is appropriate. *Id.* It is a fundamental doctrine of the law that a party whose personal rights are to be affected by a personal judgment must have a day in court, or opportunity to be heard, and that without due notice and opportunity to be heard a court has no jurisdiction to adjudicate such fundamental rights. Webster v. Clanton, 259 S.C. 387, 391, 192 S.E.2d 214, 216 (1972). A judgment by a court without jurisdiction of **both the parties and the subject matter** is a nullity and must be so treated by the courts whenever and for whatever purpose it is presented and relied upon. *Id.* (Emphasis added.)

The Master in Equity's Findings of Fact from the July 25, 2012, Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Vacate/Set Aside Foreclosure Sale, Void Master in Equity Deed, and Vacate/Set Aside Order, set forth at Page 2 that the Appellant's last known address was 120 Marlbrooke Way, Kennett Square, Pennsylvania. (R. p. 2). No party appealed this ruling; therefore, it is the law of the case. See ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997) (holding an unappealed ruling is law of the case and should not be reconsidered by the appellate court). The Master's July 25, 2012, Order further set forth in its Findings of Fact that publication was made by Plaintiffs in the *Island Packet*, which the Trial Court set forth in Footnote 1 is a newspaper circulated

in Beaufort County, South Carolina. (R. p. 2). No party has appealed this ruling either, such that it is also the law of the case. See ML-Lee Acquisition Fund at 241. The *Island Packet* is distributed primarily in Beaufort County. Caldwell at Footnote 2. No evidence was introduced that the *Island Packet* is distributed in Chester County, Pennsylvania, the County in which the Appellants' residence in Kennett Square is located. It is further undisputed that the Property at issue in this matter (Lot 55) is an undeveloped lot located at 42 Fuskie Lane, Daufuskie Island, South Carolina, 29915, which is located in Beaufort County.

S.C. Code Ann. §15-9-740 sets forth in relevant part that an Order of Publication *must* direct the publication be made in one newspaper *most likely to give notice* to the person to be served (Emphasis added). Nevertheless, the legislature elected not to define the terms "must" or "most likely." Where the legislature elects not to define a term in a statute, the courts will interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning. Adoptive Parents v. Biological Parents, 315 S.C. 535, 542, 446 S.E.2d 404, 408 (S.C. 1994). If a statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning. Ogburn-Matthews v. Loblolly Partners (Ricefields Subdivision), 332 S.C. 551, 572, 505 S.E.2d 598, 609 (Ct. App. 1998). "Must" is mandatory language, setting forth that one must take or refrain from some action. See South Carolina Police Officers Retirement Sys. v. City of Spartanburg, 301 S.C. 188, 391 S.E.2d 239 (1990) ("must is mandatory"). As such, it is clear that the Order of Publication is absolutely required to direct publication in one newspaper *most likely to give notice* to the person to be served. See Brown v. Malloy, 345 S.C. 113, 127, 546 S.E.2d 195 (Ct. App. 2001).

(“Superimposed upon the requirements of the Order of Publication is the mandate of section 15-9-740, which requires publication in a newspaper 'most likely to give notice to the person to be served.’”)

The Appellants set forth that it is unreasonable to expect that a newspaper of general circulation in Beaufort County, South Carolina, would be the newspaper “most likely to give notice” to the Appellants. As such, Respondent, Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, Inc. (hereinafter “Bloody Point”), failed to strictly comply with S.C. Code §15-9-740 by publishing its Notice in the *Island Packet*, a newspaper of general circulation in Beaufort County, South Carolina, when attempting service upon *known* parties that resided out-of-state. (Emphasis added.) Respondent, Bloody Point, further knew, and public records, including the Beaufort County Assessor's records, showed that the Property in question was undeveloped and otherwise unimproved, such that it is difficult to fathom that one would reside at or about the subject Property. Moreover, the attorneys for the regime, the entity responsible for enforcing the Restrictions in Covenants applicable to Bloody Point, certainly knew that those Restrictions and Covenants prohibited the Appellants from utilizing their undeveloped lot for purposes of camping or other overnight activities, such that there was no chance whatsoever that the Appellants were residing on that Property, and thus likely to receive Notice through publication in the *Island Packet*. On the other hand, publication in *The Daily Local News*, a newspaper of general circulation in Chester County, Pennsylvania, would have given the Appellants proper Notice of the pending action, as it is a local newspaper most likely to give notice to them. The Caldwell Court recently wrote, in reference to one of the same South Carolina newspapers utilized herein for service by

publication, to-wit: The *Island Packet*, “A Plaintiff who has no other remedy than to effectuate service by publication is more likely to reach a Defendant not located in the County by publishing service in a publication with a broader distribution area.” Caldwell at Footnote 2. The Court of Appeals' footnote follows the same common sense logic that Appellants have argued, to-wit: that to publish a Summons in a locally circulated South Carolina newspaper located hundreds of miles from the residence of those to be provided constructive notice regarding an action concerning an undeveloped lot is clearly not the newspaper most likely to give notice, especially when there is another newspaper in their home County which is certainly more likely to provide Notice. The Order of Publication is therefore facially inadequate and defective, as Bloody Point failed to strictly comply with the requirements of S.C. Code §15-9-740, such that due process and prior South Carolina precedents support the assertion the Trial Court lacked jurisdiction over the Appellants herein. Without jurisdiction over the Appellants, known and necessary parties, the judgments rendered are a nullity and must be treated as such.

Additionally, the Trial Court's decision was controlled by a fundamental error of law, as it was improper for the Court to rely on the procedures found in S.C. Code §15-9-720(B)(1) dealing with “unknown parties,” as the basis for its decision and findings regarding proper service via publication. While the legislature did not define the term “unknown parties,” common sense seems to dictate that these are parties who are not able to be identified utilizing reasonable prudence. In fact, Webster's Dictionary defines “unknown” in relevant part as: “not discovered, explored, identified, or ascertained.” Webster's New Universal Unabridged Dictionary, 2079 (1996). Bloody Point clearly “knew” who the

parties to the action were, as they were named as Defendants in all pleadings from the beginning of the underlying case. Where the legislature elects not to define a term in a statute, the Courts will interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning. Adoptive Parents v. Biological Parents, 315 S.C. 535, 542, 446 S.E.2d 404, 408 (S.C. 1994). If a statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning. Ogburn-Matthews v. Loblolly Partners (Ricefields Subdivision), 332 S.C. 551, 572, 505 S.E.2d 598, 609 (Ct. App. 1998). While S.C. Code § 15-9-720(B)(1) may direct proper methods to follow when dealing with “unknown” parties, one is not unidentified solely because he or she is not at home in order to receive personal service.

The Affidavits requesting service by publication are facially defective in that they failed to strictly comply with the statutory requirements set forth in S.C. Code §15-9-710, such that proper jurisdiction was not obtained. S.C. Code § 15-9-710 begins in relevant part, “When the person on whom the service of the summons is to be made cannot, **after due diligence, be found within the State and** (a) that fact appears by Affidavit...” (Emphasis added). Appellants would assert that this case is more factually similar to the recent decision in Caldwell v. Wiquist, Op. No. 5105 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed March 27, 2013) (Shearhouse Adv. Sh. No. 14 at 99), than to those cases distinguished therein.

The Order for Publication signed by the Beaufort County Clerk of Court was supported by three (3) separate documents: an Affidavit for Order of Publication signed by attorney Julie A. Serafino; an Affidavit of Service (in reality non-service) from a Chester

County, Pennsylvania; Sheriff's Deputy, as to Appellant William A. Ashton; and an Affidavit of Service (in reality non-service) from a Chester County, Pennsylvania, Sheriff's Deputy, as to Appellant Michele C. Ashton. (R. pp. 132-134). Attorney Julie A. Serafino's Affidavit is facially defective in that it fails to allege the Appellants could not be found within the State after due diligence; the Affidavits utilized by Respondent, Bloody Point, to obtain the Order for Publication fail to allege that the Appellants are residents of South Carolina, or any state other than South Carolina, such that a proper newspaper for publication could not be determined by the issuing clerk or judge; and the Order for Publication made no finding of due diligence, such that it is distinguishable from prior South Carolina precedent, and facially defective. (R. pp. 132-136).

Attorney Julie A. Serafino's Affidavit for Order of Publication is facially defective in that it fails to allege the Appellants, **after due diligence**, could not be found within the State of South Carolina, a position supported by the South Carolina Court of Appeals' recent decision in Caldwell. (R. p. 132). South Carolina Courts have repeatedly required strict compliance with publication statutes. Caldwell at 104. The Caldwell Court found the case of Nash County v. Allen, 241 N.C. 543, 85 S.E.2d 921 (1955), persuasive as a basis for issuing its opinion. The Nash Court stated its decisions "uniformly hold that where service of [the] Summons is made by publication, the requirements of the statute must be strictly followed" and "that everything necessary to dispense with personal service of [the] Summons must appear by Affidavit." Caldwell at 104-105; citing Nash County at 924. The Caldwell Court further cited Nash, setting forth: "Moreover, 'a[n] Affidavit on which publication is predicated is facially defective in the absence of an allegation that the person

on whom the Summons is so served cannot, after due diligence, be found within the State.”

Id. at 105. Finding that the Trial Court erred, as a matter of law, in denying the Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, the Caldwell Court, referencing the Affidavit(s) utilized to obtain an Order of Service by Publication, held that, “the Affidavit must include some factual basis which the court issuing the order of service by publication can find that the defendant cannot, after due diligence, be found within the state.” *Id.* At 106. “Must” is mandatory language. See South Carolina Police Officers Retirement Sys. v. City of Spartanburg, 301 S.C. 188, 391 S.E.2d 239 (1990) (“must is mandatory”). A review of Julie Serafino's Affidavit reveals: 1) that no assertion is included that due diligence was used to locate or find the Appellants herein within the State (“The said Defendants' present whereabouts are unknown and said Defendants cannot be found within this State”); and 2) this defect is not cured by the two (2) respective Affidavits of Service produced by the Chester County, Pennsylvania, Sheriff's office, as these documents show, at best, that service attempts were made at 120 Marlbrooke Way, Kennett Square, Pennsylvania 19348. (R. pp. 132-134). Even if the Chester County Sheriff's Office's efforts were held to satisfy Respondent, Bloody Point's, due diligence requirements, a disputed point, asserting that due diligence was exercised to serve a party out-of-state is not equal to an assertion that one cannot, after due diligence be found within the state. (Emphasis added.) If the South Carolina Legislature intended to make compliance with the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. §15-9-710 optional, they could have easily done so via omission of the word “must”, or by using an optional term, such as “may.” Appellants assert that any other reading or interpretation of the publication statute, S.C. Code Ann. §15-9-710, would fail to require

strict compliance with the statute in contravention of long-standing precedent; would require reversal of prior South Carolina case law setting forth that “must” is mandatory language; and would further require holding that “out-of-state” or its equivalent is the same as “within the state”, an outcome that could indeed lead to some clearly absurd results.

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