STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, Master-in-Equity

---

FILED  
OCT 25 2013  
SC COURT OF APPEALS

Case No.: 2011-CP-07-2176  
Appellate Case No.: 2013-000222

Bloody Point Property Owners Association, Inc., David L. Fingerhut,  
and Patricia M. Santry.....Respondents,

v.


William A. Ashton, Jr. and Michele C. Ashton.....Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Respectfully submitted,



---

Matthew E. Tillman  
Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP  
5 Exchange Street  
P. O. Box 999  
Charleston, South Carolina 29402  
(843) 722-3400

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

The Appellants further cite the sale of 70 Fuskie Lane as evidence of valuation. That sale occurred nine months after the foreclosure sale and the January 12, 2012 announcement of the sale of the golf course and related amenities and upcoming

---

<sup>7</sup> It is noteworthy that after redeeming title to the property in late 2010, the Appellants never paid Beaufort County property taxes again. The Fingerhut Respondents were required to pay 2011 County property taxes to Beaufort County at closing due to the Appellants’ failure to make payment.

<sup>8</sup> At the Master-in-Equity auction on January 3, 2012, the room was filled with willing real estate investors, yet the Fingerhut Respondents were the only bidders for the Property. (R. p. 257).

improvements and renovations in and around Bloody Point. (R. p. 286). In addition, 70 Fuskie Lane is roughly 20% larger than the Property. (R. p. 283) (noting that the Property is .53 acres, while Lot 70 is .63 acres).

Appellants' own appraiser valued Lot 70 at \$107,000 as of April 2, 2012.<sup>9</sup> If the \$126,650 actual sales price of Lot 70 is reduced by 20% to account for the disparity in size as compared to the Property, the implied value of the Property as of the September, 2012 sales date, would be approximately \$101,320 – still less than the \$115,932 threshold required to deem the actual purchase price some nine months earlier as one that “shocks the conscience.” Lastly, the Appellants make the erroneous argument that this interior, golf course lot has an “ocean view.” This argument is not supported by the evidence submitted in the trial court below. In addition, this claim is noticeably absent from the Accent Appraisal as well as the Appellants' affidavits; it can only be found in their attorney's arguments.

The Master-in-Equity considered all of the evidence presented, including the competing appraisals. He correctly concluded that the “appraisal provided by the [Fingerhut Respondents] and 2010 tax sale data are more reliable than the valuation information provided by the [Appellants].” (R. p. 4). In so holding, the Master-in-Equity ruled that “the actual value of the Property is consistent with the [Fingerhut Respondents'] appraisal [\$17,000] and the actual sales price at the 2010 Beaufort County Delinquent Tax Sale [\$10,000] and, accordingly, is far less than the \$115,932.00 required to ‘shock the conscience’ of the Court.” (R. p. 4).

---

<sup>9</sup> The Accent Appraisal never attempted to value the property as of the date of the sale, January 3, 2012.

The Master-in-Equity's ruling was clearly supported by credible evidence of the actual value of the Property on the date of the foreclosure sale. His denial of the Appellants motion was not an abuse of discretion, and his ruling must be affirmed.

**III. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN HOLDING THAT THE APPELLANTS WERE PROPERLY SERVED.**

The standard for setting aside an order of publication issued by a statutory officer of the court is stringent. Indeed, “[w]hen the issuing officer is satisfied by the affidavit, his decision to order service by publication is final absent fraud or collusion.” Wachovia Bank of South Carolina, N.A. v. Player, 341 S.C. 424, 428-429, 535 S.E.2d 128, 130 (2000) (citations omitted). This standard has been upheld and applied where, as here, a party asserts that an order of publication is defective due to a lack of diligence in attempting to locate the party to be served. Montgomery v. Mullins, 325 S.C. 500, 505-506, 480 S.E.2d 467, 470 (Ct. App. 1997) (“As to the determination of whether the order of publication was valid based on Montgomery's lack of diligence in attempting to locate the Mullinses, we hold the trial court was without authority to overrule the finding of the clerk of court that the Mullinses could not, ‘after due diligence, be found in the County and State of their last known residence.’”). In the present case, the Clerk of Court for Beaufort County determined that the affidavit, including the statements concerning diligence, complied with requirements of S.C. Code. § 15-9-710 and -740. There are no allegations of fraud or collusion. Therefore, the Clerk of Court's determination is final and the Master-in-Equity was without authority to overrule her.

**A. The Master-in-Equity did not abuse his discretion in holding that the Association complied with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-740.**

The Association hired the Chester County, Pennsylvania Sherriff's Office to serve the Appellants at 120 Marlbrooke Way, Kennet Square, Pennsylvania – the address

which the Appellants now claim is and has been their address. (R. pp. 180-181); (R. p. 165); (R. p. 168). The Chester County Sherriff's Office unsuccessfully attempted to perfect service on the Appellants at that address on four separate occasions. (R. pp. 180-181). The Association then petitioned for and received an Order for Publication from the Clerk of Court for Beaufort County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 182-183). The Order for Publication specifically noted that the pleadings should be "served upon the said Defendants by publication of the same in the *The Island Packet*, a newspaper published in Beaufort County, South Carolina, State aforesaid, which newspaper is designated most likely to give notice to said Defendants . . . ." (R. p. 182).

The Clerk of Court and later the Master-in-Equity were confronted with documentation confirming that the Chester County, Sheriff's Office was unable to serve the Appellants despite four attempts.<sup>10</sup> After considering that the Sherriff's Office in Chester County was unable to locate and serve the Appellants in that County and the fact that the Association and court knew they owned property in Beaufort County, both the Clerk of Court and the Master-in-Equity deemed that the Island Packet was the newspaper most likely to give notice to the Appellants. (R. pp. 182-182); (R. p. 5). While the Appellants may disagree with the conclusion reached by both the Clerk of Court and the Master-in-Equity, that conclusion was not reached through an error of law and was plainly supported by the evidence introduced in the case that was known at the time.<sup>11</sup> Therefore, the Master-in-Equity did not abuse his discretion in holding that the Association complied with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-740.

---

<sup>10</sup> It was not until nearly two months after the foreclosure sale that William and Michele Ashton appeared and contended that they live in Pennsylvania (R. p. 169, ¶8); (R. p. 166, ¶8).

<sup>11</sup> The Master-in-Equity also properly concluded that Respondent Bloody Point Property Owners Association, Inc. mailed the pleadings in accordance with the Order of Publication. (R. p. 5). The

**B. The Master-in-Equity applied the correct statute in holding that the Appellants had been properly served by publication.**

The Master-in-Equity never ruled that the Appellants were served pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-720. Rather, the Master's Report and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale provided only that service was made upon the Appellants, as shown by the affidavits in the court file. (R. p. 188). Further, in the Order Denying the Motion to Vacate, the Master-in-Equity based his holding on compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-740 and the Order for Publication. (R. pp. 4-5). The Master-in-Equity never cited S.C. Code Ann. 15-9-720 as a basis for his decision, either in the original Order or the Order Denying the Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 1-13). Therefore, Appellants' contention that the Master-in-Equity committed an error of law is erroneous. Further, the issue was not preserved for appellate review.

**C. The Appellants' argument concerning the propriety of the Affidavit for Publication was not preserved for appellate review.**

Appellants briefed and argued three issues concerning service by publication in their original Motion to Vacate: (1) the court's alleged failure to comply with the S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-740; (2) the court's allegedly application of S.C. Code § 15-9-720 instead of S.C. Code § 15-9-710; and (3) the Associations alleged failure to comply with the Order for Publication. (R. pp. 16-17); (R. pp. 21-27). First, the Affidavit for Publication was never admitted into evidence. In addition, the first time that Appellants raised the issue concerning the viability of the affidavit in support of the petition for service by publication was during oral argument on Appellants' Rule 59(e) Motion to

---

Appellants failed to introduce any evidence supporting their allegation that Bloody Point failed to mail the pleadings in accordance with the Order of Publication.

Reconsider. (R. p. 95, lines 16-23).<sup>12</sup> Therefore, this was not preserved for appeal. Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co., 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009) (“An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.”); Patterson v. Reid, 318 S.C. 183, 456 S.E.2d 436 (Ct. App. 1995)(same).

**D. Even assuming the Appellants’ argument concerning the propriety of the Affidavit for Publication was preserved, the Master-in-Equity did not err in denying the motion.**

The Affidavit for Publication submitted by the Association’s counsel provides as follows:

A diligent search to perfect service upon [Appellants] proved unsuccessful as is shown by the Affidavits of Non-Service filed herein. The said [Appellants’] present whereabouts are unknown and said Defendants cannot be found within this State.

(R. pp. 180-181); (R. p. 273). As set forth above, the Affidavits of Service detail four unsuccessful attempts to serve the Appellants. The Clerk of Court for Beaufort County determined that this affidavit complied with the publication statute and issued the Order for Publication.

As long as the affidavit supporting a request for service by publication reflects due diligence in attempting to serve the party, the officer’s decision to issue an order of publication is final and unassailable. Wachovia Bank of South Carolina, N.A. v. Player, 341 S.C. 424, 428-429, 535 S.E.2d 128, 130 (2000). In Wachovia Bank, the Supreme Court of South Carolina determined that the required diligence may be determined by reading the petition and affidavits of non-service together. Id. at 428, 535 S.E.2d at 130 (“It is clear from reading the two documents together that the petition is inaccurate, but

---

<sup>12</sup> Appellants characterized their Motion to Reconsider as a motion under Rule 59(a)(2), SCRPC. However, a Rule 59(a)(2) motion was barred because it was not filed within 10 days after Appellants’ receipt of the Master’s Report and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale. See Rule 59(b), SCRPC. Rather, Appellants’ motion was properly characterized as a Motion to Alter or Amend under Rule 59(e), SCRPC.

that the process server's affidavit reflects due diligence by her.”). In the present case, the Association filed an affidavit that affirmed that a diligent search had been performed and specifically referenced the Affidavits of Service, which had been previously filed and were accessible to the Clerk of Court. (R. pp. 180-181); (R. p. 273). Therefore, the Association’s affidavit was nearly identical to the affidavit upheld in Wachovia Bank, and supported the Clerk of Court’s decision to issue the Order for Publication.

The Appellants’ reliance on Caldwell v. Wiquist, 402 S.C. 565, 741 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 2013) is misplaced. The Caldwell decision did not alter the controlling precedent concerning affidavits for publication, but rather distinguished the facts of that case from those set forth in Montgomery and Wachovia Bank. Id. at 586-587. In Caldwell, this Court considered an affidavit that merely recited: "The Defendant who is a non-resident of Beaufort County, South Carolina, cannot be served a copy of the Summons in Beaufort County, and it is necessary and proper to serve her by publication." Id. at 587. The Court noted that the affidavit did not contain any information regarding whether or not [the party to be served] could be found in the State. Id. Further, it noted that “[t]he affidavits requesting publication are defective on their face because they state the Caldwells tried to serve a non-resident of Beaufort County only in Beaufort County [and] . . . do not contain any statements regarding the due diligence undertaken and, in fact, do not even contain the phrase ‘due diligence.’” Id.

The subject affidavit contains no similar infirmities. It specifically notes that a diligent search to perfect service was conducted, and the Appellants cannot be found in the State. Further, the affidavit makes specific reference to the Affidavits of Service,

which, under Wachovia Bank, is sufficient to demonstrate the factual basis for issuing the order for publication.

Indeed, the Caldwell decision specifically cited the language in Wachovia Bank concerning the Supreme Court's reading of the petition for publication and the affidavits of non-service together when distinguishing the affidavit considered in that case from prior precedent. Id. at 586. It also distinguished Yates v. Gridley, a Supreme Court decision which upheld an affidavit which read:

[T]he above defendants, are non-residents of this [State], but are residents of the State of New York, and . . . their post-office is unknown to deponent, and cannot be ascertained, notwithstanding due diligence has been employed, nor can they be found in this State after due search for them.

Id. (citing Yates v. Gridley, 16 S.C. 496, 498-99 (S.C. 1882)). In the present case, the Association properly submitted an affidavit that referenced the Affidavits of Service detailing the diligent efforts made to serve the Appellants in Pennsylvania. The Clerk of Court was correct in reading the documents together. She was also correct in determining from those documents that the Appellants could not be located, in South Carolina or otherwise. Therefore, under the controlling precedent set forth in Yates, Montgomery and Wachovia Bank, the documents presented to the Clerk of Court were not defective, and she properly issued the Order for Publication. Her decision is final, and the Master-in-Equity did not abuse his discretion by upholding her decision and finding that the affidavit in support of the petition for publication complied with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-710.

**IV. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN HOLDING THAT THE APPELLANTS' DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED.**

**A. The Appellants failed to preserve their Due Process argument.**

The Appellants briefed and argued their claim that the alleged failure to properly serve them violated their Due Process rights under the United States Constitution and South Carolina Constitution. The Master-in-Equity never ruled on this issue, either in his original order or order denying the Appellants' motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 1-13). Therefore, this issue was not preserved for appeal. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2012).

**B. The Master-in-Equity did not abuse his discretion in ruling that the Appellants' Due Process rights were not violated.**

The Appellants' argument that their Due Process rights were violated due to the allegedly improper service by publication is nearly a verbatim repeat of their argument that Respondent Bloody Point Property Owners Association, Inc. failed to comply with the service by publication statute. Appellants cite no additional case law, nor do they argue that the alleged violation involves a standard that is any different than those applied in their earlier arguments.

There appear to be no South Carolina appellate decisions on point. However, the Wachovia Bank case is instructive. As set forth above, in Wachovia Bank, the Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the master-in-equity's ruling that a party may demonstrate the due diligence required for securing an order for service by publication by referring to affidavits of non-service filed in the case. Wachovia Bank, 341 S.C. at 428, 535 S.E.2d at 130. The Supreme Court held that although appellants' constitutional Due

Process arguments were not preserved for appeal, “we perceive no constitutional problem here.” Id. at 429, 535 S.E.2d at 130.

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